# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA INTEREXCHANGE CARRIERS ASSOCIATION,
Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,007 PSC DOCKET NO. 910179-TL

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,
Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
THE FLORIDA INTEREXCHANGE CARRIERS ASSOCIATION

Vicki Gordon Kaufman Fla. Bar No. 286672

McWhirter, Grandoff and Reeves 522 East Park Avenue, Suite 200 Tallahassee, Florida 32301

904/222-2525

Attorney for the Florida Interexchange Carriers Association

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following abbreviations are used in this brief. Appellant, Florida Interexchange Carriers Association, is referred to as FIXCA. Appellee, Florida Public Service Commission, is referred to as the Commission. GTE Florida Incorporated is referred to as GTEFL. Citations to the Record on Appeal are designated (R.).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

# Background

The issue raised on appeal is a very narrow legal question regarding the Commission's interpretation of section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1990). This legal issue arises in the context of the complicated and highly technical telecommunications industry. Understanding the telecommunications industry is made more difficult by the terminology used to describe its operations, services and participants. However, the intricacies of the telecommunications industry should not obscure the issues of law which the Court must consider. To assist the Court, provides following brief overview FIXCA the telecommunications industry.

The telecommunications network in the United States is owned and operated by a number of companies. Most consumers are familiar with two types of telecommunications providers: their local telephone company (such as GTEFL, Southern Bell or Centel), and their long distance telephone company (such as AT&T, MCI and others). There is some overlap between the services provided by these companies. The dispute raised by this appeal occurs within this area of overlap.

The local telephone company operates a telecommunications network that interconnects each home and business located in the local telephone company's service territory. Generally, these companies offer their basic service using a number of smaller geographic areas known as exchanges in which subscribers can

place calls to one another without charge. Local telephone companies, however, also provide interexchange services which allow subscribers in one exchange to call subscribers in another exchange. Prices for this service usually depend upon the time the call is made, the duration of the call, and the distance between the exchanges (or some combination).

The area of common interest between local and long distance telephone companies is the completion of interexchange calls of short distance. Long distance companies (also known as interexchange carriers) provide interexchange service using transmission facilities that go between exchanges. Local telephone companies also provide this service.

# Case History

On January 29, 1991 GTEFL filed tariff T-91-037. The proposed tariff's purpose was to restructure the rates and dialing patterns relating to calls between the communities of Clearwater, Tampa, Tarpon Springs, and St. Petersburg. Order No. 25708 at 2. (R. 202).

Members of FIXCA<sup>1</sup> are certificated by the Commission to provide long distance telephone service between telephone exchanges. At the time of GTEFL's proposal, FIXCA members were authorized by the Commission to compete with GTEFL to provide

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  FIXCA is a trade association composed of companies who provide interexchange telephone service.

service between the communities listed above.2

GTEFL's proposed tariff sought to substantially reduce the price for calling among the four exchanges and to change the dialing pattern used to initiate a call. At the time the new system was proposed, calls among the exchanges were priced on a per-minute basis that depended upon the distance and time-of-day the call was placed. To initiate the call, subscribers would dial 1+ the seven (7) digit number of the party being called. Under GTEFL's proposed service, usage prices are reduced by approximately seventy percent (70%) below existing rates and subscribers do not have to use the 1+ prefix to initiate calls. GTEFL's new pricing plan is referred to as Extended Calling Service (ECS).

On March 5, 1991, FIXCA filed a petition for rejection of GTEFL's proposed ECS tariff. FIXCA requested that the Commission reject GTEFL's tariff, or alternatively, that the Commission suspend the tariff and hold a hearing on the proposal. (R. 48-51). On May 7, 1991, the Commission granted FIXCA's request for hearing and held that it would take no further action on the proposed tariff pending the outcome of the hearing. Order No. 24488 at 2. (R. 53). Intervenor status was granted to the Office of Public Counsel, the Florida Pay Telephone Association, Inc., and Southern Telephone and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to January 1, 1992, FIXCA members were authorized to provide such service by resale. After January 1, 1992, FIXCA members were permitted to carry this traffic over their own facilities. Order No. 23540 at 32. (R. 32).

Telegraph Company. Order No. 25708 at 3. (R. 203).

The Commission issued two orders on prehearing procedure. Order No. 24577; Order No. 24687. (R. 203). A notice of hearing was issued by the Commission on June 21, 1991. The notice set out the purpose of the hearing:

The purpose of this hearing is to permit parties to present testimony and exhibits relative to any and all issues regarding GTE Florida, Inc.'s proposal to offer Extended Calling Service in Florida.

(R. 56).

The hearing was held before the Commission on September 11, 1991. Post-hearing briefs were filed by the parties on October 21, 1991. (R. 123-200). On February 11, 1992, the Commission approved a modified version of the ECS plan. Order No. 25708 at 27. (R. 227).

Order No. 25708 holds:

We find that the routes for which ECS has been approved shall be classified as local and held to fall within the ambit of "local exchange service," as that term is employed in Section 364.335. This is consistent with our treatment of EAS as local service. The necessary result of our action shall be to preclude competition on these routes.

Order No. 25708 at 34. (R. 234).

The Commission based its absolute prohibition on competition on the ECS routes on section 364.335(3), Florida Statutes (1990). Section 364.335 states:

The commission may grant a certificate, in whole or in part or with modifications in the public interest, but in no event granting authority greater than that

requested in the application or amendments thereto and noticed under subsection (1); or it may deny a certificate. The commission may not grant a certificate for a proposed telecommunications company, or for the extension of an existing telecommunications company, which will be in competition with or duplicate the local exchange services provided by any other telecommunications company unless it first determines that the existing facilities are inadequate to meet the reasonable needs of the public and it first amends the certificate of such other telecommunications company to remove the basis for competition or duplication of services.

It is the legal question of the Commission's statutory interpretation of section 364.335 that is the subject of this appeal.

On December 18, 1991, GTEFL filed a motion for reconsideration of the Commission's oral decision.<sup>3</sup> The Commission issued Order No. 25709 as to that motion on February 11, 1992. (R. 237-239).

On February 26, 1992, the Office of Public Counsel filed a motion for reconsideration of Order No. 25708. On May 11, 1992, the Commission issued Order No. PSC-92-0323-FOF-TL disposing of that motion. (R. 240-242). On June 9, 1992, FIXCA filed its notice of appeal of Order No. 25708. (R. 243).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Commission routinely decides matters brought before it orally at Agenda Conferences. After the oral vote in this case, but before the filing of the written order on February 11, 1992, GTEFL filed a motion for reconsideration of the Commission's decision.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Order No. 25708, the Commission erroneously interpreted section 364.335(3), Florida Statutes (1990), so as to deprive currently licensed telephone interexchange carriers from serving long distance routes they were heretofore certificated by the Commission to serve. This erroneous decision has no legal basis and must be reversed.

The Commission based its decision to prohibit competition on ECS routes and to preclude currently certificated carriers from serving those routes on section 364.335(3). However, a review of this statute (which applies to the granting of new certificates to carriers who will compete with or duplicate local exchange services) makes its clear that the statute on its face applies only to new market entrants—that is entities who are applying for a new certificate or seeking to expand the territory covered by a current certificate. It is an uncontroverted legal principle that the plain meaning of a statute must govern its interpretation. Application of this legal maximum renders the Commission's decision erroneous and requires reversal.

The Commission's decision also violates the numerous statutory sections pertaining to amendment and revocation of telecommunications certificates as well as the Commission's own rules on certificate cancellation. FIXCA does not dispute that the Commission has the statutory authority to revoke or amend a telecommunications certificate. However, the Commission may do

so only for explicitly stated statutory reasons—failure to comply with a Commission rule, order or statutory provision or failure to provide adequate service. Sections 350.127(1), 364.285(1), 364.345(1), Florida Statutes (1991). None of these situations exists in this case and therefore the Commission has no authority to amend or revoke the interexchange carriers' (IXCs) certificates as it has done here. The Commission's action is also inconsistent with its own rules on certificate cancellation which permit the Commission to cancel a certificate only for the reasons delineated above. Rule 25-24.474(1), Florida Administrative Code.

Additionally, the Commission's action violates the license revocation requirements of section 120.68, Florida Statutes (1991). An IXC's certificate falls within Chapter 120's definition of license. Section 120.52(9). The Commission may not revoke a license without first serving the licensee with an administrative complaint and providing adequate opportunity for a hearing. Section 120.60(7). It is undisputed that section 120.60(7)'s requirements were not followed in this instance.

Even if it is assumed that section 364.335 has applicability to the present case, the Commission has greatly exceeded any discretion delegated to it by applying the classification of "local exchange service" to the ECS routes but refusing to define what falls in that category. This "we'll know it when we see it approach" gives the Commission unfettered discretion to make piecemeal ad hoc determinations which have

the effect of divesting IXCs of their licenses to do business without defining appropriate categories and classifications beforehand. Such unlimited discretion cannot be permitted.

Lastly, once the Commission has determined that certain routes are subject to competition, Chapter 364 provides it with no authority to "remonopolize" such routes. After the Commission decides that competition is in the public interest on certain routes, it may not alter that decision.

The Court should rule that the Commission has erroneously interpreted section 364.335 and restore to the IXCs their right to serve the routes the Commission previously certificated them to serve.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE STATUTORY STANDARDS OF SECTION 364.335, FLORIDA STATUTES (1990), APPLY ONLY TO NEW MARKET ENTRANTS.

# A. Standard of Review

Section 120.68(9), Florida Statutes (1991), states:

If the court finds that the agency has <u>erroneously</u> interpreted a provision of law and that a correct interpretation compels a particular action, it shall:

- (a) Set aside or modify the agency action, or
- (b) Remand the case to the agency for further action under a correct interpretation of the provision of law.

Emphasis supplied. This standard of judicial review requires the Court to reverse or remand an agency order which incorrectly interprets a provision of law. See, i.e., Johnson & Johnson, Inc. v. Florida Department of Transportation, 371 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (order of Department of Transportation requiring appellant to remove four outdoor advertising signs if it did not remove certain lighting from the signs reversed and remanded due to lack of statutory authority); Cundy v. Division of Retirement, 353 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (agency order quashed and case remanded for agency to give effect to statutory presumption); Leonard v. Department of Administration, 352 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (order terminating disability benefits remanded due to erroneous interpretation of statute). In this case, the Commission has erroneously interpreted section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1990), to prohibit IXCs from serving

the ECS routes. However, section 364.335 does not empower (much less require) the Commission to prohibit <u>currently certificated</u> carriers from serving the approved ECS routes. Therefore, the Commission's interpretation of section 364.335 is erroneous and must be reversed.

# B. The plain language of section 364.335 applies only to applications for new certificates.

The language of section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1990), upon which the Commission relied in Order No. 25708, is clear and unambiguous. By its very terms, section 364.335 applies only to applications for new certificates. While the Commission has attempted to rely on section 364.335 to support its order prohibiting competition on the ECS routes and in effect giving it the authority to amend a previously granted certificate, the plain language of the statute makes it applicable only to entities who are applying for a new certificate or who are seeking authority to expand the territory covered by a currently held certificate. That is, the statutory section relied upon by the Commission governs the authority of the Commission to permit the expansion of competition. The statute makes no reference whatsoever to any authority of the Commission to unilaterally amend a current certificate.4

It is a well-established principle of statutory construction that the plain meaning of a statute must govern:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Commission's statutory authority to amend or cancel a certificate is discussed in Section II.

[T]he meaning of the statute must, in the first instance, be sought in the language in which the act is framed, and if that is plain, . . . the sole function of the courts is to enforce it according to its terms.

Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 470, 484 (1917). Put another way,

There is no safer or better settled canon of interpretation than that when language is clear and unambiguous it must be held to mean what it plainly expresses, and no room is left for construction.

Swarts v. Siegel, 117 F. 13, 18 (8th Cir. 1902). See also,
Sutherland, Statutory Construction § 46.01 (4th Ed.).

This well-settled rule has frequently been enunciated and followed in Florida. Regarding the effective date for file and suspend orders of the Commission, this Court stated:

The rule in Florida is that where the language of the statute is so plain and unambiguous so as to fix the legislative intent and leave no room for construction, the courts should not depart from the plain language used by the legislature. Carson v. Miller, 370 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1978).

Citizens of State v. Public Service Commission, 425 So.2d 534, 541-2 (Fla. 1982). See also, Lee v. Gulf Oil Corporation, 4 So.2d 868, 870 (Fla. 1941). The same well-settled rule must apply in this case.

That the provisions of section 364.335 have no applicability to the case before the Court is obvious. First, the title of section 364.335 is "Application for certificate." Emphasis supplied. Subsection (1) specifies the information

which "[e]ach applicant for a certificate shall [provide]." The statute requires each applicant to furnish all information required by Commission rule or order, to file rate schedules and contracts relating to the services it will provide, to remit an application fee, and to provide an affidavit swearing that notice of the application has been given. All of these requirements and procedures can, by their very terms, apply only to new market entrants. To interpret the statute in any other way makes no sense.

Subsection (2) provides that "[i]f the commission grants the requested certificate" (emphasis supplied) a substantially affected person may object and request a hearing or the Commission may on its own motion, hold a hearing to determine if the grant of the certificate is in the public interest. This subsection specifies where the hearing on the application shall be held and makes the transcript of the hearing and related material part of the application. These provisions on their face can apply only to new market entrants.

More specifically, the Commission explicitly bases its decision on subsection 364.335(3). Subsection 364.335(3) provides:

The commission may grant a certificate, in whole or in part or with modifications in the public interest, but in no event granting authority greater than that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Such information may include detailed inquiry into the applicant's ability to provide service, the territory and facilities involved, and the existence of service from other sources.

requested in the application or amendments orit may deny certificate. The commission may not grant a certificate for a proposed telecommunications company, which will be in competition duplicate the local services provided by any other telecommunications company unless it first determines that the existing facilities are inadequate to meet the reasonable needs of the public and it first amends the certificate of such other telecommunications company to remove the basis for competition or duplication of services.

Emphasis supplied. As with the earlier subsections, subsection 364.335(3) speaks explicitly in terms of the grant of a <u>new</u> certificate or the <u>expansion</u> of a current certificate. It gives the Commission the authority to grant new certificate applications in whole or part or to deny such applications. It does not, however, provide the Commission with authority to divest a previously granted certificate holder of present authority.

The Commission interprets subsection 364.335(3) as:

a prohibition against duplication of or competition with the local exchange company, absent a specific exception provided by statute or authorized by this Commission.

Order No. 25708 at 34. (R. 234). Such a prohibition can be found nowhere in the statute vis-a-vis currently certificated carriers.

In this case, there was no request pending before the Commission for a certificate of authority which triggered the requirements of subsection 364.335(3). Only when there is an

application for a <u>new</u> certificate does the Commission reach the question of whether the new provider will "be in competition with or duplicate the local exchange services . . . ." In this case, this question is irrelevant. No certificate application was before the Commission. Both GTEFL and the IXCs hold certificates authorizing them to provide interexchange service along these routes.

Section 364.335, by its plain meaning, has <u>no</u> applicability to the facts of this case. The plain language of subsection 364.335, which is triggered only when there is an application for a certificate, is directly contrary to the Commission's construction of the statute. The Commission's order must be reversed.

II. ORDER NO. 25708'S ABSOLUTE PROHIBITION ON COMPETITION ON THE ECS ROUTES VIOLATES THE STATUTORY SECTIONS PERTAINING TO AMENDMENT AND REVOCATION OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS CERTIFICATES AND IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE COMMISSION'S RULES ON CERTIFICATE CANCELLATION.

#### A. Standard of Review

Section 120.68(12)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), states that:

The court shall remand the case to the agency if it finds the agency's exercise of discretion to be:

All certificated IXCs have already gone through the application process contemplated by section 364.335 and received certificates to serve designated exchanges.

- (b) Inconsistent with an agency rule;
- (d) Otherwise in violation of a  $\ldots$  statutory provision.

The record in this case demonstrates that Order No. 25708, which absolutely prohibits FIXCA members from serving routes which they were previously certificated to serve, violates the Commission's statutory authority to amend, suspend or revoke telecommunications certificates, and is inconsistent with the Commission's rules on certificate cancellation.

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