#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA INTEREXCHANGE CARRIERS ASSOCIATION	)
Appellant, v.	) CASE NO. 80,007
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,	
Appellees.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 910179-TL

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

MARSHA E. RULE Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 302066

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0862 (904) 488-7464

###

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Springs, and Melrose exchanges, and the Palatka exchange,</u> 92 F.P.S.C. 2:152 (1992);

In re: Request by St. Johns County Commissioners for extended area service between the Ponte Vedra and St. Augustine exchanges, 92 F.P.S.C. 3:101 (1992);

In re: Resolution by Bradford County Commission requesting extended area service within Bradford County and between Bradford County, Union County and Gainesville, 92 F.P.S.C. 5:10 (1992); and

In re: Resolution for extended area service between the Vernon, Bonifay and Westville exchanges by Washington County Commission, 92 F.P.S.C. 7:327 (1992).

In re: Application for a rate increase by United Telephone Company of Florida, 92 F.P.S.C. 7:555 (1992).

In re: Request by Country Club of Miami Community Improvement Council for a Miami/North Dade boundary line change, 92 F.P.S.C. 4:125 (1992).

In re: Resolution by St. Lucie Board of County Commissioners for extended area service between Ft. Pierce and South Port St. Lucie, 92 F.P.S.C. 7:286 (1992).

routes (which was previously granted confidential status under Section 364.183, Florida Statutes (1991) because the routes were subject to competition) is released to the public. Thus, the route becomes part of the telephone company's local exchange service for all purposes.

As noted above, Rule 25-4.042, Florida Administrative Code, which authorizes optional calling plans or other extended calling concepts, identifies three factors upon which the need for expanded local services shall be based: the community of interest, high toll usage, and subscribers' desires for the service. The Commission examined all three factors in this case.

The primary factor upon which the Commission relied in this case was the community of interest of subscribers. The term, which is widely used throughout the United States in connection with expansion of local exchange service, describes not only the way people use their telephones, but also their patterns of living within their community.

A sufficient community of interest for EAS may be deemed to exist based on the number of calls made on particular routes. Rule 25-4.060(2), Florida Administrative Code. However, the community of interest required for other types of expanded services is not measured solely by the number of calls. Rather, the Commission investigates the community of interest on a factual basis, as it did in this case. (Order No. 25708 at 6 -7, R. 201 at 206 - 207.

The sufficiency of the evidence upon which the Commission based its findings is uncontroverted herein. As finder of fact in

this hearing, the Commission reviewed the evidence and found that GTEFL met its burden of proving that community of interest factors were sufficient to justify expanding the scope of local calling:

Upon consideration, we find that GTEFL has demonstrated that there is a sufficient community of interest to warrant some form of The calling patterns on these toll relief. routes partially satisfy the criteria for flat rate EAS and GTEFL has shown numerous examples of fundamental dependencies between the ECS These fundamental dependencies involve the satisfaction of everyday needs education, jobs, health care, such as governmental services, and recreation. these reasons, we find that a modified version of the ECS plan shall be offered on these routes.

Order No. 25708 at 11, R. 201 at 211.

# II. IT IS WITHIN THE COMMISSION'S STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO EXPAND THE SCOPE OF PROTECTED LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE, WHEN TO DO SO IS IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

The legislature has determined that unrestrained competition in the telephone industry is not in the public interest. Section 364.01(3)(c) and (e), Florida Statutes (1991). FIXCA correctly argues that the effect of approving GTEFL's ECS plan, and the resultant expansion of GTEFL's local exchange service, is to eliminate competition for the ECS routes. The effect is the same in all of the myriad instances in which the Commission approves any form of extended area service. However, FIXCA's argument is irrelevant. The Commission is not required by Section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1991) to allow unbridled competition within the telecommunications industry, and has never allowed competition for

local exchange service.

Competition in the telephone industry is generally deemed to be in the public interest because it contributes to better service at lower prices. However, the legislature has directed the Commission to balance the benefits of competition with the needs of the public:

- (3) The Commission shall exercise its exclusive jurisdiction in order to:
- (c) Encourage cost-effective technological innovation and competition in the telecommunications industry if doing so will benefit the public by making modern and adequate telecommunications services available at reasonable prices.
- (e) Recognize the continuing emergence of a competitive telecommunications environment through the flexible regulatory treatment of competitive telecommunications services, where appropriate, if doing so does not reduce the availability of adequate basic local exchange service to all citizens of the state at reasonable and affordable prices. . .

Section 364.01(3)(c) and (e), Florida Statutes (1991) (emphasis supplied). Thus, the Commission is not required to allow all possible forms of competition.

Further, the legislature has determined that it is not in the public interest to allow competition for local exchange services. Thus, Section 364.335(3), Florida Statutes, (1991) prohibits the commission from granting a certificate of public convenience and necessity for the operation of a telecommunications company which would compete with or duplicate existing local

exchange services.7

FIXCA argues that this statutory prohibition against competition for or duplication of local exchange services applies only in the context of certificate applications, and must be strictly limited to those instances. However, it is a fundamental tenet of statutory construction that statutes must be read to effectuate rather than nullify their purpose. FIXCA's reading nullifies the purpose of the statute by allowing competition for local exchange services. Apparently, FIXCA believes that the Commission must turn a blind eye to the statute in any context other than a certificate application.

The Commission does not believe it is free to circumvent the clear purpose of Section 364.335 by allowing competition for newly expanded local exchange service when it could not authorize such competition in the context of a certificate application. As the Commission noted in its order, the real issue here is not whether the Commission's action is anticompetitive, but whether the Commission has the authority to determine that the ECS routes are "local exchange service":

In their positions, the parties do not genuinely dispute that [Section 364.335] reserves the provision of "local exchange service" to local exchange companies. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The stated exception to the general prohibition involves cases where the Commission determines that existing facilities are inadequate to meet the reasonable needs of the public. Even then, the Commission must amend the certificate of the other company "to remove the basis for competition or duplication of services", which results in continued protection from competition. Section 364.335 (3), Florida Statutes, (1991).

heart of the disagreement, rather, revolves around the meaning of the term "local exchange service".

Order No. 25708 at 34, R. 201 at 234.

The current version of the statute, Section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1991), clearly indicates a legislative intention to protect local exchange service from competition. The former version, Section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1981), protected telephone companies from any competition, but was amended by Chapter 82-51, (3), Laws of Florida, to specify protection only for local exchange services. Thus, the legislature specifically indicated its intention to promote competition only in the long distance market, with local exchange services remaining a monopoly. This Court has interpreted the statute accordingly.

In 1986 this court reviewed an interexchange carrier's claim that the Commission had no authority under Section 364.335, Florida Statutes, (1982) to establish Toll Monopoly Areas. Microtel, Inc. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 483 So.2d 415 at 417 (Fla. 1986). Not only did this Court recognize Section 364.335 as providing general authority for monopoly local exchange service, but it even found that the statute did not require "instant, unlimited competition in all long distance services." Microtel, 483 So.2d at 418. The case did not involve a certification proceeding, and this Court did not limit the statute's application to that context.

Later, this Court again stated cited Section 364.335 as the Commission's authority for continuing the monopoly on local

exchange service. AT&T Communications v. Marks, 515 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1987). AT&T, an interexchange carrier, had challenged the Commission's bypass restriction policy, by which the Commission prevented interexchange carriers from building direct access lines to local customers. This Court found that the Commission's actions advanced "the three fundamental and primary legislative policies" which were relevant therein: the legislative decision that there should be long-distance competition, the legislative determination that there should be no competition for local phone services, and the legislative direction that the Commission act in the public interest when permitting any form of competition. AT&T, 515 So.2d Significantly, this Court cited Section 364.335, Florida Statutes (1985), as the authority for the local exchange service monopoly, although the case was not a certification proceeding. Additionally, this Court noted that Section 364.14(2), Florida Statutes (1985) provided authority for the Commission to impose restrictive orders and rules.

Finally, FIXCA itself has agreed that IXCs are prohibited from providing local exchange service -- it simply does not believe that the ECS routes constitute such service. (R. 93).8

See, also, Order No. 25708, R. 201 at 234:

In their positions, the parties do not genuinely dispute that [Section 364.335(4) (1989)] reserves the provision of "local exchange service" to local exchange companies. The heart of the disagreement, rather, revolves around the meaning of the term "local exchange service".

Acceptance of FIXCA's argument would mean either that the Commission would have no authority to determine what local exchange service each LEC should offer (because the Commission's designation of a route as local exchange service would carry with it no protection from competition), or that the Commission would be forced to allow competition for local exchange services, which clearly violates the legislative intention to protect such services. Acceptance of FIXCA's argument would freeze each LEC's local exchange service and would forever fix long distance routes as they currently exist, regardless of future population or technology changes, and regardless of the needs and desires of future subscribers. The Commission would be divested of the ability to carry out its statutory responsibility to determine when competition was in the public interest.

The legislative intent to protect local exchange service is clear, and the Commission's directive to do so is not limited to certificate proceedings. The Commission is the proper authority to determine the scope of local exchange services to be offered by Florida telephone companies, and the public interest demands that it have the flexibility to enlarge the scope of local exchange services to meet the changing needs of Florida telephone subscribers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>(that Section 364.335 provides no authority for the Commission's prohibition of competition on the ECS routes and even if it did, the Commission abused its discretion by not comprehensively defining "local exchange service")

III. FIXCA CANNOT CONTEST ON APPEAL
THE ALLEGED AMENDMENT, REVOCATION OR CANCELLATION
OF INTEREXCHANGE CERTIFICATES
OR THE ALLEGED FAILURE TO COMPREHENSIVELY DEFINE
"LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE"
WHEN THE ISSUES WERE NOT RAISED BELOW
AND FIXCA'S OWN WITNESSES TOOK POSITIONS
FAVORING THE COMMISSION'S AUTHORITY TO
DESIGNATE ECS ROUTES AS LOCAL

It is axiomatic that a reviewing court will not review points raised for the first time on appeal. In order to preserve a question for appeal, a party must object and obtain a ruling on the alleged error. This is a basic principle of fairness which encourages judicial economy and prevents abuse of the appellate process. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). FIXCA asks this Court to violate this long-standing appellate principle. Not only did FIXCA fail to raise any issue relating to the alleged revocation amendment, cancellation orof interexchange certificates, but their own witnesses took positions contrary to the claims they now make on appeal. This they cannot do. City of Jacksonville Beach v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 381 So.2d 283 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

FIXCA devoted almost half of its appellate brief to the argument that defining the ECS routes as local exchange service (and the resulting protection from competition) violates the Commission's authority to amend, suspend or revoke certificates, is inconsistent with the Commission's rules on certificate cancellation, and violates the license revocation requirements of

Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 10 Yet FIXCA wholly failed to raise this issue before the Commission. FIXCA was the petitioner in this case, yet it did not mention the issue in its petition (R. 48), did not mention it in either its original or its amended prehearing statements (R. 58 and 88), and did not find it important enough to touch upon in its posthearing brief and statement of positions. (R. 123). 11

To the contrary, FIXCA's prehearing positions and testimony supported the Commission's ability to determine that the ECS proposal was local in nature:

The ECS proposal is "local plan" only if a sufficient community of interest exists. GTE has failed to show such a community of interest. . . .

(R. 90, 210). FIXCA has clearly waived whatever right may have had to complain that the Commission's action in Order No. 25708 is inconsistent with the statutes and rules cited in its brief.

The foregoing applies with equal validity to FIXCA's newly voiced protestations that the Commission abused its discretion in

The Commission notes that, even if applicable and properly raised, the licensing provisions of Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, would not be applicable herein, but would instead be superseded by the more specific certification procedures specified in Chapter 364 and Commission rules.

<sup>&</sup>quot;FIXCA additionally claims that the notice given in this case was deficient because it wasn't served by personal service or certified mail and because it didn't state that interexchange certificates were at issue. (FIXCA Brief at 22.) This argument is particularly misguided, not just because FIXCA remained silent on this issue prior to the appeal, but because the Commission granted the hearing request for which FIXCA petitioned! It is difficult to conceive how FIXCA can be prejudiced by the Commission's alleged failure to serve FIXCA with a copy of its own petition.

not providing a universal, rigid definition of "local exchange service". Neither FIXCA, nor any other party herein, raised this issue prior to appeal or requested that the Commission create such a definition. Rather, FIXCA took the position that GTEFL simply had not met its burden of proving that a sufficient community of interest existed to justify toll relief. (R. 90 and 92, 127 - 130).

If the Commission's proceedings were somehow flawed because of the errors alleged on appeal, they are errors of which FIXCA was well aware and which it was willing to encourage and accept until the end result, a factual determination by the Commission that there was a sufficient community of interest to justify expansion of local exchange services, proved not to FIXCA's liking. FIXCA cannot complain of alleged errors which it never raised, and even invited. Wasden v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad Co., 47 So.2d 825 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). It has waived the right to review on these issues.

# IV. ORDER NO. 25708 DID NOT AMEND OR REVOKE INTEREXCHANGE CARRIERS' CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY

Even assuming, arguendo, that FIXCA's claims were adequately preserved for appeal, Order No. 25708 did not amend or revoke any interexchange carriers' certificates. FIXCA claims that the Commission's approval of GTEFL's ECS plan as local exchange service somehow amended or revoked its members' certificates of public convenience and necessity. FIXCA goes to great lengths to describe

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